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For Jennifer







For one thing this century will in after years be considered to have done in a superb manner and one thing I think only … it will always be said of us, with unabated reverence, ‘They built ships of the line’ … the ship of the line is [man’s] first work. Into that he has put as much of his human patience, common sense, forethought, experimental philosophy, self control, habits of order and obedience, thoroughly wrought handwork, defiance of brute elements, careless courage, careful patriotism, and calm expectation of the judgement of God, as can well be put into a space of 300 feet long by 80 broad. And I am thankful to have lived in an age when I could see this thing so done.





– John Ruskin in Thomas J. Wise (ed.), The Harbours of


England (1895)
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The monument unveiled in Albion Square, Pembroke Dock, in July 1914 to mark the centenary of the establishment of Pembroke Royal Dockyard. (Author)
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Foreword


by


Admiral The Right Honourable


Baron West of Spithead


GCB DSC PC ADC





Nestling deep in one of the best natural harbours in Britain it was hardly surprising that the Lords of Admiralty should establish a Royal Dockyard at Paterchurch, near Pembroke, in 1814. Subsequently called Pembroke Dock, no warships had ever before been built there and the horse-drawn plough had been the most advanced piece of machinery. Yet within 20 years Pembroke men, hitherto tied to the land and traditional rural pursuits from time out of mind, were building major British warships and they did so for another 100 years. Surprisingly, many in our Nation and Navy are unaware that the Royal Dockyard at Pembroke Dock in Pembrokeshire was the Admiralty’s principal shipbuilding yard, and that it produced 250 warships for the Royal Navy, and five royal yachts for the nation, between 1814 and 1926. I was reminded of the fact when I unveiled the restored figurehead of the fifth HMS Arethusa in May 2013. A 50-gun ship built at Pembroke Dock, she was the last Royal Naval ship to go into action under sail and to fire a broadside.


The period from the Napoleonic War until after the First World War witnessed all the major changes in warship design and construction, from wood to iron and then steel, and from sail to steam. Pembroke, after Chatham, led on the construction of the ironclad warship in the Royal Dockyards. This demanded the mastery by the Dockyard workers of a wide range of new and ever-widening technical skills. Trades hitherto unknown had to be learned. I have a personal link with the Yard, having a great-great-grandfather who, having been the Gunner in HMS Agamemnon in the Crimean War, went on to serve in the royal yacht Victoria and Albert II and thence to work in the Dockyard, as did his son.


Although the Royal Dockyard has been closed for 88 years this Admiralty town celebrates in 2014 the bicentenary of its foundation. Lawrie Phillips, who was born and bred just outside the Dockyard walls, is a leading naval historian with a deep admiration for the Royal Navy and a profound understanding of its business. Lawrie is best known throughout the Service as author of the standard naval history reference book The Royal Navy Day by Day which is dedicated to Her Majesty The Queen and a copy of which is issued to every ship and establishment in the Fleet. In his civilian, professional calling he was a long-serving Senior Fleet Staff Officer, which has given him a unique insight into naval affairs. There could be no better man to tell the story of Pembroke Dockyard, its ships and of the Pembroke men who built them.





West of Spithead


House of Lords
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A souvenir postcard of Pembroke Dockyard scenes, mainly from photographs taken by S.J. Allen, published in 1914 to mark the centenary of the town. (Author)




Introduction


Pembroke Dockyard was a great and proud enterprise, which flourished on the south shore of Milford Haven from before Waterloo until well after Jutland. Generations of our forebears worked with adze and hammer, in sawpits and foundries, building warships which policed the British Empire and maintained the Pax Britannica down through the nineteenth century. Later warships fought in the Grand Fleet in the First World War and one in the Home Fleet in the Second World War.


The last generation of Dockyarders which built the great armoured cruisers has passed away and the last Pembroke-built ship has long since gone to the breaker’s yard. But their memory and achievement remains the very heartbeat of this Royal Dockyard town at its bicentenary. Ships were the core of the Dockyard operation and this book is about those ships, what they were and, briefly, what they did.


Ships, over 250 in number, great and small, built from wood then iron and then steel, went down the slipways at Pembroke Yard between 1816 and 1922 and through the reigns of six sovereigns. Many were remarkable in themselves, embracing new technologies, capabilities and advancements. They served worldwide from the Arctic to the Antarctic, from the Caribbean to the Far East in major military operations, minor imperial interventions, exploration expeditions and on surveying duties. Relics of Pembroke-built ships or references to them crop up all over the world – I even found one mentioned on a tombstone in South China. These ships have been of compelling interest to me for over 60 years, a treasure-trove of fascinating study.


A treasure trove, perhaps, but never once in this writer’s schooldays in Pembroke and Pembroke Dock was any aspect of Pembroke Dockyard ever introduced into a history or geography lesson. How strange this was – as strange as if teachers in Grimsby never, ever, spoke of fish, or schools in the Rhondda shunned any reference to coal. Or, as Professor Nicholas Rodger has observed in a different context, a history of Switzerland that did not mention mountains. For us local history was confined to Pembroke Castle, Cromwell and King Henry VII, all sound and proper subjects, but what rich material was neglected, what opportunities missed, to fire the imagination of the young with stories of splendid ships and great exploits in distant seas.


Part One of this book provides a brief history of the Dockyard setting out some of the early difficulties encountered, how the Yard developed uniquely as a specialist building establishment and where it stood, and where it felt it should have stood, in the wider Admiralty orbit. Pembroke never tired of trying to be Portsmouth.


Part Two, the core of the book, provides a detailed summary of every ship built at Pembroke Dockyard, including the five royal yachts, with her essential technical particulars and summary of service. Some of these ships were modest craft. Others were major capital ships. Accounts are given of launching days when the town was often en fête and crowded with excursion visitors. Some of this may be repetitive but launching days were the highlights of the history of our town and all that we have available to rekindle the pride in which our townsmen held their work. The toll of industrial accidents increased greatly with industrialisation. Here and there I mention cases of the human cost of Dockyard work, what Kipling termed The Price of Admiralty.


Part Three is about the Dockyard people. This is shorter than I would wish because of space limitations. I have chosen to record a selection of the Captain Superintendents: the first, the last, one in mid-century described in detail and a few before and after. Below them were their principal officers and ordinary workers. A few assorted other Pembroke Dock characters, a vicar, a colonel of Royal Marines and a few ‘local boys made good’ round off our story.


What can be covered in one book is finite. There is much more to say about the industrial, social and military history of Pembroke Dockyard, about its defences, the Royal Dockyard Battalion, the Dockyard School, Dockyard apprenticeships and training, and other aspects of historical interest. These merit dedicated research.


This book is a personal contribution to marking the bicentenary of my home town of Pembroke Dock. The story may give our townsmen today, and their children, a vision of what our great, great grandfathers achieved in this far flung corner of the Realm and what the ships they built did across the oceans and in the much wider world beyond the shores of Milford Haven.





Lawrie Phillips


Northwood





Note: I have purposely avoided encumbering the text with a web scholarly apparatus. Key source references are given in Parts One and Three. In Part Two, the main ship section, references are incorporated in the narrative.







WILLIAM WHITE OF PATERCHURCH





A boatload of workmen from Milford arrived on the foreshore at Paterchurch one morning in the winter of 1812–13. The men had been expected. They were watched by 13-year-old William White, son of the tenant farmer of Paterchurch Farm, Mr Francis White. In George Mason’s history, Pembroke Dock, Pembroke Dockyard and Neighbourhood, we are told that William was ploughing a field near the present Albion Square and he ‘looked on with sad forebodings as to the result of the turn things were taking, as he and his generations were quite satisfied with farming’.


The Navy Board had decided to abandon the yard at Milford and to transfer operations up the harbour to a green field site at Paterchurch, 2 miles from the old town of Pembroke, by mid-summer 1814. The workmen had come to lay out provisional lines for an intended new dockyard. Their arrival marked the end of old, timeless Paterchurch. It was the start of an extraordinary new era and of an enterprise of colossal scale.


William White, ‘late of Paterchurch’, died aged 79 years on 31 July 1878 and he is buried in Llanion Cemetery. Before we begin our narrative of how the Dockyard developed and how, in its lea, the town of Pembroke Dock flourished, we might pause and give a kind thought to William who was probably one of the last living souls who remembered the green fields of Paterchurch and his farmhouse home under Patrick’s Hill.
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The headstone over the grave in Llanion Cemetery of William White, son of Francis White of Paterchurch Farm, who watched with forebodings the arrival of the first boatload of dockyard workers from Milford in the winter of 1812–13. (Author)







PART 1


Pembroke Dockyard – A Short History


We beg leave most humbly to recommend to Your Royal Highness that Your Royal Highness will be graciously pleased to establish, by Your Order in Council, the yard forming at Pater as a Royal dockyard.1





George, Prince of Wales, acting as Regent in place of his demented father, King George III, gave the Royal Assent to this submission from the Navy Board and the Order in Council, signed on 31 October 1815, established not only a new Royal Dockyard but also a new naval – or Navy Board – town.


It was an unpropitious time. Waterloo, fought on 18 June 1815, had ended the long French wars and ships by their hundreds were returning home to pay off. The existing Royal Dockyards now had, for the first time in generations, more than enough capacity to support the much-reduced peacetime Royal Navy. Pater Yard, however, had existed de facto for some years and its first ships were well advanced. The Navy Board had committed public funds to the county twice in a decade and was probably reluctant to abandon its investment. The Order in Council, therefore, served to regularise and put on a proper administrative footing what had begun as a wartime expedient down the harbour at Milford.


The Royal Navy in 1815 was by far the most expensive single commitment of central government and it was the largest industrial organisation in the world.2 With its supporting dockyards, the Royal Navy embraced a wider range of specialist professional skills than any other single human activity. It is a matter of wonder that part of its operations should take root in so remote a corner of the Realm and to flourish there for well over a century.





THE ORIGINS OF THE DOCKYARD


A Royal Dockyard on Milford Haven arose from the Navy Board salvaging work from a bankrupt contractor.3 During the long French wars the Royal Yards did not have the resources to build large numbers of new warships, maintain the expanded fleets and cope with the repair of sea-worn and battle-damaged vessels. Battles could not be forecast, and repair work disrupted and delayed dockyard shipbuilding and increased costs.4


The Navy Board therefore depended on private yards where new vessels could be built without interruption. During the Seven Years’ War two warships were built under contract at Neyland. Richard Chitty launched the frigate HMS Milford in 1759, the annus mirabilis, and in 1765 Henry Bird and Roger Fisher launched the two-decker HMS Prince of Wales on the same site.5
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Pembroke Dockyard in 1830. The town extends eastwards as far as Charlton Place and Lower Park Street. High Street and Pembroke Street are built. Park Street cemetery has not yet been established. The Dockyard timber pond is still the original tidal inlet of East Pennar Flats. Paterchurch Tower remains outside the Dockyard walls. The Defensible Barracks is an ‘intended fort’ and the two gun towers will not be completed for 20 years. A path leads from West Llanion Pill to Pembroke Ferry. (Pembroke Dockyard Archives)


The Navy Board looked to Pembrokeshire again in the Revolutionary and Napoleonic wars, contracting in 1797 with Messrs Harry and Joseph Jacob of London for new warships to be built on the foreshore at Milford. When they failed the Navy Board completed the ships, renting the site from year to year. As ‘timber and iron could be bought there cheaper and workmen obtained in abundance on lower terms than that at any other place where ships are now generally built’, the Navy Board proposed to buy the site and to establish a Royal Dockyard there. A sale figure of £4,455 was agreed with Charles Francis Greville and an Order in Council dated 11 October 1809 gave authority to buy land ‘to be employed as a dock yard for building Your Majesty’s ships’.


Greville, however, had died on 23 April that year. His brother, Robert Fulke Greville, who succeeded him as life tenant of the estate, refused to accept the price and, in consequence, ‘we directed the Navy Board, on 3rd August 1810, to suspend the improvements then going forward on the premises, and on the 16th October 1812, finally to give up possession of the same at Midsummer 1814’.6 Modern research has suggested a contributory factor in the Navy Board’s decision was that Milford lacked deep water and that dredging was not considered feasible.7 This problem might have been overcome but in failing to reach a financial accommodation with the Navy Board Robert Fulke Greville deprived Milford of an early opportunity for great prosperity.


The dockyard facilities were transferred over the following few years to Government land at Pater and the last personnel finally moved out in mid-summer 1814 with the completion of HMS Rochfort. Additional land at Paterchurch was acquired and the first building slip and the excavation of a dry dock was put in hand.


PATERCHURCH DOCKYARD


The early civil engineering and planning of Pater Yard was undertaken by John Rennie, and after his death by his son John, and the buildings were designed by Edward Holl, Surveyor of Buildings to the Navy Board, his successor, and George Taylor. ‘For the first few years after the removal of the establishment from Milford’, recalled the Haverfordwest and Milford Haven Telegraph in a historical review in 1856, ‘the mechanics and labourers were employed enclosing the Dockyard with wooden paling, levelling the surface and forming the slips (the groundways of which were based upon solid rock). The main work was, however, carried out by contractors. By May 1814 Mr James Isaacs was at work on a boundary wall, which he hoped to complete by March 1815 ‘provided he could open a new quarry’.8


A notice in The Times on Saturday 17 June 1815, repeated on 4 July 1815, read:





CONTRACT for BUILDING a DOCK and SEA-WALL, at PATER CHURCH, near MILFORD





Navy Office


June 5, 1815





The Principal Officers and Commissioners of his Majesty’s Navy do hereby give notice, That on Wednesday, the 8th of July next, at one o’clock, they will be ready to treat with such persons as may be willing to contract for BUILDING a DOCK and SEA-WALL, at his Majesty’s yard at Pater Church, near Milford. Plans, elevations, and sections, together with a specification of the works, and a form of the tender, may be seen at this office. No tender will be received after 1 o’clock on the day of the treaty, nor any [noticed] unless the party, or an agent for him, attends. Every tender must be accompanied by a letter addressed to the Navy Board, and signed by two responsible persons, engaging to be bound with the persons tendering, in the sum of £10,000, for the due performance of the contract.





The contract appears to have been won by Hugh McIntosh who was soon in operation. His contract was extended to levelling the site of the Yard, constructing stone slips and the first phase of the Yard buildings.9 Early ships were built on temporary timber slips, the first being launched on 10 February 1816, when two 20-gun frigates were sent afloat the same day, and ‘an impressive concourse of spectators assembled to witness the novel event’.


The building of the new establishment proceeded apace. It was clear that the Navy Board had invested wisely. The ‘yard forming at Pater’ was well-situated within reasonably easy reach of fresh timber supplies, particularly from the Forest of Dean, and by chance, when metal replaced wood in shipbuilding, conveniently near the iron and steel foundries at Landore. This fortunate circumstance helped the Yard’s survival in the second half of the century. Furthermore, the nucleus of a trained workforce was available from Milford. Their numbers were considerably augmented after 1815 by the transfer of now surplus craftsmen from other Royal Yards.


In 1817 the name of Pater Yard was changed to Pembroke Dockyard at the request of the Mayor of Pembroke, Mr Humphreys, ‘in deference to the town of Pembroke some 2 miles distant’.10


THE FOUNDING FATHERS


The founding fathers of Pater were thus largely, but not exclusively, new men. Most established men came from the West Country, shipwrights from ‘Plymouth Dock’ as Devonport was known until 1823. These Devonians and Cornishmen, mostly Wesleyans – the Seccombes, Saunders, Twiggs, Tregennas, Sloggetts, Willings, Trevennas and Treweeks – although of Celtic stock, constituted the most racially distinct influx into South Pembrokeshire since the arrival of the Flemings in the twelfth century. They and their descendants, with the people from Milford, created Pembroke Dock.11 William Edward Seccombe (‘of Myrtle Villa’) became Mayor of Pembroke in 1887.


These incomers eventually interbred and were absorbed into the native stock. One such was Richard Treweeks, born in Devonport, who had arrived from Plymouth as a Clerk 3rd class on 10 February 1823.12 By the end of the century R.H. Treweeks was an established chemist in Pembroke main street - ‘prescriptions carefully dispensed with genuine drugs and chemicals’. A memorial in St Mary’s Church in the same street honours Richard Edward Lewis Treweeks, Lt RN, ‘who was born in this Parish April 25th 1883, and lost his life in the explosion in HMS Natal December 30th 1915’. The loss of Lt Treweeks was that of a local boy.


Another West Countryman, Thomas Sloggett from Plympton, entered Pembroke Dockyard in November 1821 aged 36 and became Leading Man of Masons – in those early years masons to construct buildings were as much in demand as shipwrights to build ships. The Sloggetts also became shopkeepers, in this instance in Prospect Place. Thomas’ son, George (probably the George William Abbott Sloggett, born 23 February 1834), got himself into The Times newspaper on 18 January 1866: ‘George Sloggett, shipwright of Pembroke dockyard, having been detected during the late annual examination in using papers previously prepared, and surreptitiously introduced into the room in which the examination was held, the Lords Commissioners of the Admiralty have ordered him to be suspended from pay for 14 days, and not to be allowed to compete for promotion for 2 years. The above announcement is ordered to be promulgated as a caution throughout Her Majesty’s dockyards.’13


The West Country incomers, although perhaps not great in numbers, remained a distinct, perhaps elite, group for a generation or more, their surnames emphasising their distinction and separateness. In an overseas colony they might have established their own club. But in these early days of the colony there was no club and there were very few houses. Richard Rose comments that the senior Navy Board official, Thomas Roberts – ‘Builder Roberts’ – must have felt like both the governor of a settlement and the manager of a vast building site as he tried to get on with his primary purpose of building ships.


SHORTAGE OF ACCOMMODATION


The transfer from Milford to Pater posed major problems of accommodation. The old sixth-rate frigate HMS Lapwing was fitted-out at Plymouth in June and July 1813 and brought round to Paterchurch where she was run ashore to serve as offices ‘to lodge clerks etc’ until she was broken up in 1828. Nearby the two-decker HMS Dragon of 1798 was also grounded on the waterfront in 1832 to provide a barracks for the Royal Marines detachment, which guarded the new establishment. These quarters became squalid and a disgrace but served until the Marines took possession of the new Defensible Barracks in 1846. The ship was broken up in August 1850. The Metropolitan Police took over responsibility for the security of the Royal Dockyards in 1860. Their 5th Division took up duty at Pembroke Dockyard on 17 December that year. Their numbers comprised one superintendent, two inspectors, five sergeants and twenty-six police constables.14
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The Metropolitan Police took over responsibility for the security of the Royal Dockyards in 1860; the 5th Division assumed their duties at Pembroke Dockyard on 17 December that year. This photograph of policemen at the main gate of Pembroke Dockyard was taken in about 1902. (Author)


Accommodation for the hundreds of Dockyard employees was a major problem, which could not be met with old naval hulks. The influx of masons, shipwrights and other tradesmen, many having brought their families from Plymouth, must have given Pater the appearance of an American frontier settlement. The problem was exacerbated by contractors’ men employed building walls, docks and slipways. By summer 1818 McIntosh’s workforce totalled 450 men.15 House rent went up to an abnormal price. ‘The old town of Pembroke had golden times, and people were so sorely pressed for lodgings that, in the young town, cases occurred of rooms being occupied before the floors were laid.’16 The rental costs ruled out lodgings for most workers.


In a submission to the Navy Board the Dockyard officers reported that ‘many of the men reside at a distance of eight or ten miles in the country’ and others ‘are at Milford, and so scattered along the banks of the haven as to require eighteen boats to carry them to the Yard and back’. The concern was not just the cost but that ‘the men were already fatigued when they arrived for work’.17


For the senior staff there was nothing appropriate to their status. Builder Roberts was ‘constrained to live in an extremely incommodious lodgings’ through which there was ‘a thoroughfare to a public billiard table’. When Dr Burke, the Surgeon of the Dockyard, sought accommodation in 1817 he stated that ‘the only house in the town of Pembroke that can be procured is Mr Lord’s, which he will not let unfurnished at a less rent that 100 [pounds] pr annum … There is also a cottage in the vicinity of the town for which the proprietor demands sixty guineas a year including rates and taxes, a rent which every reasonable person must allow to be exorbitant.’18 Letters from Burke to the Navy Board in December 1816 and January 1817 show that he was then living at Milford, contrary to the Board’s requirement that he should reside near the Yard. Burke explained that he did so because of the difficulty of getting a suitable house at Pembroke and not, as the Board had been told by an anonymous letter, because ‘he wanted to live amongst his friends and with the view of carrying on a private practice’.19


Official residences for senior officers of the Dockyard were built as a priority. Edward Holl, Surveyor of Buildings to the Navy Board, designed two pairs of handsome three-storey semi-detached houses, which still stand. Drawings were completed in December 1817 and by mid-1818 McIntosh had fifty masons and fifty labourers working on them (and a further 350 men working elsewhere in the Dockyard). On 8 September 1819 the houses were reported to be within 2 months of completion. The Guard Room at the main gate took longer and McIntosh did not submit his bill until April 1823.20 The United Service Journal of March 1834 gave a summary of the building works in hand: ‘The new house building for the Captain Superintendent of the dockyard … when finished will form a spacious and desirable residence, having handsome dining and drawing rooms fronting westward, and commanding a view of Milford Haven for nine miles, between the dock-yard and the harbour’s mouth. The building is but just commenced.’ It was not ready for Capt. William Pryce Cumby when he arrived with his family in March 1837 and he lived (and died) on board the yacht Royal Sovereign. The house ‘for the residence of the surgeon, adjoining the dock-yard gates to the eastward … a neat stone edifice, originally built for the warden … [is] now having an additional storey added to it’.


The first Instructions for the Guidance of the Principal and Inferior Officers of His Majesty’s Dock-Yards issued by the new Board of Admiralty in 1833 were uncompromising. Orders for the Captain Superintendent began with ‘You are to make the house allotted for you in the Dock Yard your constant residence …’. The orders to the Master Shipwright began similarly and continued ‘and you are not to remain out of the Yard during the night, without leave from us, or from the Superintendent’. The Surgeon and Storekeeper, who also had official residences just inside the Dockyard gates, were similarly bound by these Admiralty directions but with the softener that they ‘shall enjoy the Gardens and Offices respectively attached to them’.


Holl’s buildings ‘demonstrate the confidence of the late Georgian Admiralty and Navy Board in the immediate aftermath of the Napoleonic War’, considers Dockyards architectural historian, Jonathan Coad: ‘His extensive employment of cast-iron columns and beams in their construction … is particularly notable.’ The local planning authority has generally rejected plans which would needlessly have spoiled many of Holl’s surviving buildings and what Coad describes as ‘its sense of place’. The Captain Superintendent’s house, privately owned, is in sad disrepair. That of the Fleet Surgeon has been splendidly restored and is currently the offices of the Pembroke Dock Sunderland Trust. The Master Shipwright’s House is a private residence.
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The Captain Superintendent’s residence at Pembroke Dockyard in 1902. The United Service Journal in 1834 when it was being built predicted a ‘spacious and desirable residence, having handsome dining and drawing rooms fronting westward, and commanding a view of Milford Haven for nine miles, between the dock-yard and the harbour’s mouth’. It was not ready when Captain William Pryce Cumby arrived in 1837 and he and his family had to live on board the old royal yacht Royal Sovereign, and on which he died in September 1837. The house is now privately owned and unoccupied. (Tania Whishaw)


The dispersed workforce was a continuing difficulty. The Times of 28 September 1836 reported that ‘the workmen attached to Pembroke dockyard are, it is said, to be called on to reside near the establishment, to render their services more available than now in the case of any sudden emergency’. That must have fallen on deaf ears. The Admiralty had not built houses for them.


The mould loft, continued The Times, was ‘a new noble stone building of great length and width, having accommodation for eighty pair of saws’, was only half finished and promised to ‘form quite a handsome ornament of this arsenal’. The Smithery building was ‘a substantial and also ornamental stone building, placed in a straight line with the storehouse, public offices and mould loft, having handsome arches’. The new packet quay at Hobb’s Point (apostrophe used in 1834), ‘a beautiful specimen of submarine masonry’, would be finished by June 1834 for the Post Office Packet Establishment.21


DOCKYARD CHAPEL


The Dockyard Chapel, designed by George Ledwell Taylor (Holl’s successor in 1824 as Navy Board Surveyor of Buildings), was completed in 1834–35. The 1829/30 Estimates had allowed £7,944 for its construction, but the Controller of the Navy Board later reduced that figure to £4,000. This probably accounts for the chapel’s rendered finish rather than the fine ashlar used for other main buildings in the Dockyard. The chapel must have been well attended. Within a year of its opening a further sum of £3,500 was provided ‘for constructing galleries required for the accommodation of the increased numbers and for making an additional entrance to the chapel’.22


Four cast-iron columns to support the galleries came from Deptford Dockyard. Sadly, all but one of its relics were lost when the Yard closed. The chapel bell came from the Spanish second-rate Fenix, flagship of Admiral Don Juan de Langara, which had been captured in Rodney’s Moonlight Battle off Cape St Vincent in 1780 and commissioned into the Royal Navy as HMS Gibraltar. She was broken up at Pembroke Dockyard in November 1836 and the bell was installed in the new chapel. The memorial window to the lost Pembroke-built frigate HMS Atalanta (ex-Juno) also went, as did the chapel organ. The royal coat of arms from the old royal yacht Royal Sovereign, for many years a feature behind the altar, was taken by Rear Admiral Donaldson, the last Captain Superintendent, when he left in 1926. Following correspondence between this writer and his son, the late Rear Admiral Vernon Donaldson, the relic is now preserved in the National Maritime Museum at Greenwich. The oak pews were taken away by the Royal Air Force. The only personal memorial known to have been in the chapel was to Edward Laws who died in 1854, ‘a principal officer in the dockyards of his Sovereign at home and abroad for a period of almost forty years … long resident in this dockyard’. This was broken up and thrown onto a waste tip in the 1980s. It was later reconstructed and repaired by the Royal Navy; of this, more later. The author has proposed that it would be a fitting bicentenary gesture to have this memorial restored to the old Dockyard Chapel.
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Pembroke Dockyard in about 1835 looking over West Lanion Pill. Three covered building slips and the Dockyard chapel are evident and what is probably the hulk of HMS Dragon (the Royal Marines barracks) aground below the small sheds. The north-east gun tower off Front Street has not yet been built. (Author)


The Dockyard Chapel was derelict for many years until purchased by the local authority and now splendidly restored.


DEVELOPMENT OF PEMBROKE DOCKYARD


Pembroke Dock developed as a specialist building yard but its limited facilities denied it the established status of the Home Port dockyards which were also major naval bases with victualling depots, rope works, block mills and other specialist support facilities. Pembroke had only one dry dock, no fitting-out basins and, apart from Hobbs Point (completed in 1832 for the Irish packet service, not the Royal Navy) and the Carr Jetty (completed in the first decade of the twentieth century), no satisfactory alongside berths for fitting-out newly built warships. Before the introduction of iron and steel, newly launched wooden vessels were usually sent round to Plymouth, sometimes Portsmouth, under jury-rig for their masts to be stepped, if they were to be commissioned, or to go into ordinary i.e. reserve. Early steam paddle warships went round to Woolwich Dockyard, or in the case of packet steamers to Liverpool, to be fitted with their machinery. Later in the century the large iron- and steel-hulled ships had to have their engines and boilers – and later also their main armament – installed by contractors at Pembroke, under the sheers at Hobbs Point, and to be completed for sea, undertaking their initial sea trials from Milford Haven. The completion of newly launched ships was often delayed until the berth at Hobbs Point was vacated by some other earlier ship fitting-out. However, it is remarkable that the greatest battleships in the British Navy down to 1896 could be fitted-out and completed alongside the tiny, tidal jetty at Hobbs Point. It was an extraordinary feat of improvisation.


Pembroke and its champions campaigned ceaselessly for improved facilities. In mid-century the Haverfordwest and Milford Haven Telegraph believed that ‘the one thing required to make the Dockyard complete is the long talked of sea wall from the Hard across to Hobbs’ Point, thus locking in the Pill, and making it available for a steam factory, steam basin etc which its leeward situation … so admirably fits it’, which works ‘would be a culminating point from which additional sources of prosperity would spring’.23 The steam basin never materialised.


The need to justify Pembroke Dockyard, distant from the centre of power, and to press its advantages and merits, was a constant theme. It is seen very early on and it was not always self-generated. The launching of the first-rate HMS Royal William in 1833 focussed national attention on Pembroke:





Having reason to feel assured that the pages of the United Service Journal do not escape the notice of those in authority at the Admiralty, we deem it a solemn duty to point out the fact that this first-rate having been launched four days, or eight tides before the time of the highest springs. There is not another dock-yard in Great Britain where this could have been accomplished; and it is said to be in contemplation to launch the Forte [Forth], a 46-gun frigate, from hence shortly, at the period of a deep neap tide, thus further proving the superior capability of Pembroke as a building yard.24





The report went on to highlight the defects of Deptford, Woolwich, Chatham and Sheerness ‘hermetically sealed’ against major ship movements by the shoal waters of the Thames and Medway and, less convincingly, the perceived hazards of the Spit Sand off Portsmouth and problems of anchoring in the Sound or Cawsand Bay at Plymouth. At Pembroke, however:





neither in launching, docking or mooring ships much larger in size, and drawing more water than any now in use, is there the slightest obstacle to contend against. The access to the port is open and easy, being remarkably well-lighted; its interior is land-locked, and capable of receiving the largest ships for fourteen miles of its extent; while its vast maritime importance was never so strikingly evinced as in the launching of the Royal William at so early a period of the tide. It is, therefore, to be hoped, that whatever reductions and changes Ministers may think proper to make in our naval arsenals, they will continue to bear in mind that, even should every other dock-yard in the kingdom be abolished, it will be absolutely necessary to preserve Pembroke, as presenting advantages superior to any other In Great Britain …25





In 1845, 12 years on, and 30 years since the opening of Pembroke Dockyard, The Times provided another interesting evaluation:





Although this Admiralty establishment in Wales is not a port at which ships are generally commissioned and fitted for sea, and therefore does not attract so much notice as the other establishments of the United Kingdom, it is not without considerable importance, and as a building yard is, perhaps, superior to most of the others. Of late, however, and more especially within the last four years, from the new works carrying on there, and the great improvements rapidly progressing both in the town of Pembroke and Pembroke dockyard, much attention has been drawn to it. On the heights above the dockyard and town a ‘defensible barrack’ is nearly completed, to contain 400 men. It is a perfect work of its kind, and there is not another like it in Great Britain. There are also near the dockyard at Hobb’s Point, an extensive pier and premises for the convenience of the Waterford packets. The improvements and additions to the dockyard are constantly progressing. There are now twelve building-slips, and a dock which will contain the largest class of ship, having an average depth of water in it of 23 feet … Within the last year the dockyard has been increased about 14 acres, making an area of nearly 80 acres.26





The launching of the royal yacht Victoria and Albert in 1855 gave the town a morale boost. ‘Pembroke has been highly favoured as having been the dockyard selected for the construction of the two royal yachts. It is certainly the finest building establishment under the Crown, and when the alterations and improvements now in hand are completed will be a magnificent arsenal,’ reported the Pembrokeshire Herald, and ‘a large guard house is at once to be built for the accommodation of troops, and the dry dock to be greatly enlarged. The sea wall is to be further extended into the Haven, and new [roofed?] slips to be constructed.’27 The United Service Gazette reported in early 1859 that, ‘Contractors are busily engaged preparing the foundations for extending the limits of the dockyard seaward, in order to lengthen the building slips, and extend the jetties into deep water. The further purchase of land is in contemplation.’28


Later that year the United Service Gazette drew attention to ‘the present, yet rapidly increasing value and importance of Pembroke as a building yard [which] seems lost, in a great measure, upon the authorities. Pembroke labours under the misfortune of being 300 miles distant from Whitehall. It is an out-port [out-post?], and only visited occasionally or annually. Now and again we notice the arrival of a noble specimen of Naval architecture at Devonport or Portsmouth, turned out of hand in the most masterly style. We almost wonder whence they spring.’ The Gazette considered that, ‘No Royal Dockyard is equally productive with Pembroke.’ In the years 1854 to 1858 fifteen ships had been launched at Pembroke, eight at Deptford, five at Chatham and Devonport, three at Sheerness, two at Woolwich and one at Portsmouth. ‘But with all this labour and responsibility Pembroke is reckoned a third-rate establishment, and almost all belonging to it are upon a lower rate of salary than other arsenals of much less importance.’ The United Service Gazette continued:
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Pembroke Dockyard, probably in the 1860s. This engraving, published in 1882 in Cassell’s Our Own Country collection, shows the New Pier and the eastern gun tower to the left, ten covered building slips and the first of the foundry chimneys indicating work on the early ironclads. (Author)


The Captain Superintendent has £833. 7s 11d a year, the same as the Captain Superintendent of Sheerness, who has a Commander-in-Chief presiding at the port. The Master Attendant and Queen’s Harbour Master has but £50 a year in addition to his sea pay as Master. The Master Shipwright has £50 a year less than the same rank of Officer enjoys at Woolwich, Chatham, Portsmouth and Devonport, and he has no assistant. The Storekeeper and Staff Surgeon are each receiving £50 less salary than those Officers in other yards. This should not be.29





The position of the Captain Superintendent was particularly difficult. The Gazette told its influential service readership that, ‘Placed as the Chief Naval Officer is at Pembroke, surrounded by country gentlemen, it is a matter of great difficulty, if not impossibility, for him to keep up his position on his pay.’ The report concluded, ‘We have no Dockyard of greater real value or importance; but the establishment is not in proportion to its magnitude. The chief reason is that Pembroke is a long way from town, and the Captain Superintendent, consequently, unable to pay his weekly or daily vows at the pen-and-ink shrine at Whitehall.’


But even after the opening of the railway through to the Dockyard town in August 1864, Pembroke remained a frontier post.30 Any praise for Pembroke, however faint, was seized upon by its champions. Pioneer historian, Mrs Stuart Peters, recalled in 1905 the visit 20 years earlier of the ‘Chief Constructor of the United States Navy’ who, she said, reported that, ‘Pembroke is the first shipbuilding yard in the world.’ The visitor was Naval Constructor Philip Hichborn USN; he had written that, ‘the best adapted of the British dockyards for building operations is Pembroke … but having but one dock, no basins, and few shops and stores, is not a fitting-out yard, and can only be rendered so at very great expense. Vessels built there usually go to Plymouth, Portsmouth or Chatham to complete.’31


Pembroke Dockyard enjoyed the occasional shaft of limelight. In 1872 The Times reported that, ‘the launch of the Thunderer has not only added a new and powerful vessel to the Navy, but has shown that a new building yard has sprung up which has capacities for constructing the largest men-of-war. If not a rival, it certainly is a valuable aid to Chatham Dockyard, which has hitherto borne the burden of the shipbuilding operations of the Government.’32 The attention was not consistent.


Admiral Charles Penrose Fitzgerald, who was Captain Superintendent of the Dockyard from 1893–95, sometimes thought ‘that the Admiralty forgot altogether that there was any such place as Pembroke Dockyard … our insignificant little Cinderella of a dockyard did not always get everything she asked for, especially if one of her big sisters was asking for the same thing at the same time’.33


Even when the long-awaited jetty was being built out over the Carr Rocks after the turn of the century to provide a more efficient – but still tidal – alongside fitting-out facility, The Navy and Army Illustrated was unimpressed: ‘It may be remarked that this interesting and valuable Naval establishment, even if it receives the additions and improvements that are so necessary, can never equal the other dockyards in their great and special importance. They are fitted in every sense to be the efficient bases of the Fleet, not only as building and repairing establishments, but as arsenals supplied with every requirement for the life and work of the Fleet … A more modest role will always be that of Pembroke.’34


The Lords Commissioners of the Admiralty paid their annual visits of inspection to Pembroke Dockyard but they seldom lingered. Artists of the Illustrated London News were attracted to West Wales to sketch the launchings of only the greatest vessels. Even into the twentieth century, as the Dockyard was approaching its centenary, visiting members of the Corps of Naval Constructors ‘never failed to suggest [to Assistant Constructor Arthur Nicholls] that Pembroke was the end of the world and the edge of civilisation’.35 Pembroke remained a Cinderella yard, a poor relation of the Home Port dockyards, and the desire for recognition, for confirmation of their worth, was a constant preoccupation of its people. Pembroke never tired of trying to be Portsmouth.


AN ADMIRALTY TOWN


Pembroke Dock was essentially an Admiralty rather than a naval town. The Commissioners of the Navy Board and, after 1832, the Lords Commissioners of the Admiralty, influenced most aspects of public and private life outside the Dockyard walls. Within a few years of its foundation an Act of Parliament was passed ‘authorizing the Commissioners of His Majesty’s Navy to establish a Market at the Town of Pembroke Dock … and to make Regulations for paving, lighting, cleansing, and good Order of the said Town’. This was followed, on 10 June 1825, with an Act enabling the Corporation of Pembroke to relinquish and convey to ‘the Commissioners of His Majesty’s Navy the Right of Letting the Stalls, Sittings, and other Conveniences in the Market in the Town of Pembroke Dock, and the Right to the Rent, Tolls, and Fees thereof’.36 Exactly 100 years later, on the eve of the closure of the Yard, their Lordships still had a finger in every pie – almost literally. In June 1925 the Captain Superintendent was ordered by the Admiralty to inspect the bakeries of Mr F. Rogers, Water Street, Pembroke Dock, and Mr A. Farrow, Charles Street, Milford Haven, and to report on whether they were ‘a fit source for the supply of bread’.37


The Admiralty and its principal officers at Pembroke Dock filled the paternalistic role carried out in other communities by the local landed gentry. Subscription lists for good causes throughout the nineteenth century led with the names of Captain Superintendents and Master Shipwrights, rather than the local nobility and gentry.


Such good causes included the founding of the National School, which was a Dockyard project. On 1 June 1841 the Lords Commissioners of the Admiralty and the Treasury conveyed a piece of land for the proposed school on Victoria Road for the term of 1,000 years and at a peppercorn rental to a committee which included Capt. Samuel Jackson, the Captain Superintendent; William Edye, the Master Shipwright; Edward Laws, the Storekeeper; Thomas Pretious, Timber Inspector; Thomas Cook Jones, Dockyard Surgeon; and also the Rev. Charles Phillips, Vicar of St Mary’s, Pembroke (this was very much an Anglican project). A grant of £462 was voted by the Education Department and another £200 by the Admiralty.38


The Dockyard was the focus of fundraising. At the launching of the two-decker HMS Collingwood on 17 August 1841 ‘a bazaar, which was attended by the most respectable families in the country, was set on foot by the ladies of the neighbourhood for the purpose of raising funds for a National School, there being nothing of the kind at Pembroke Dock’, reported the United Service Gazette; it was held in the Dockyard mould loft, ‘the ceilings and walls of which were covered with flags of all nations; the tables were loaded with everything that female art could produce, both useful and ornamental … an excellent amateur band played several beautiful and appropriate airs’.39 The event raised £104. Another fundraising bazaar for a National School was held at the launching of a sister ship, HMS Superb, in September 1842.
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The foundation stone of the National School was laid by Mrs Edye, wife of the Master Shipwright of Pembroke Dockyard, on 26 April 1843, the day on which the first royal yacht Victoria and Albert was launched. This medallion was produced to mark the opening of the school on 24 June 1844. The building is one of the oldest in the town outside the Dockyard walls. (Author)


[image: images]


One of the earliest relics of Pembroke Dockyard is this wooden tally dated 1837. Pass No 1 was that of the Director of the Dockyard Police, Lt Richard Weatherley RN. The 47-year-old veteran of the French wars was appointed Director of Police at Pembroke Dockyard on 9 May 1834. He had previously been Harbour Master at Simon’s Town. (Author)


In the evening there was ‘a grand ball and supper at Mrs Williams’ large hotel [the Royal Hotel], Hobbs’ Point, also in aid of the National School, which was attended by all the elite of Pembroke and its vicinity; dancing was kept up with much spirit to a protracted hour in the morning, when all departed well satisfied with the day’s festivities’.


The foundation stone of the new school ‘for the education of 400 poor girls and boys’ was laid by Mrs Edye, wife of the Master Shipwright, on 26 April 1843, before the launching that day of the first royal yacht, Victoria and Albert, and ‘in the presence of the congregated multitude, who witnessed with pleasure this gratifying prelude to the spectacle they had come to see’. At the head of the subscribers list ‘is that of her Majesty the Queen Dowager’.40


The school was opened on 24 June the following year. The first master and mistress were Mr Francis Allen and his wife Maria. It was soon over-subscribed. ‘The fact of the Dockyard principal officers forming the majority of the committee gave the school a status and lent a colouring to the belief that apprentices required for the Dockyard would as a rule be taken from the School …’41


The success of the National School stimulated the Nonconformists of the town to establish a school in which the Church of England teaching would be excluded. The British School was built on the site of what later became the Coronation School and opened in May 1848. Under the Elementary Education Act 1870 the British School was taken over by the Pembroke School Board but the National Schools survived until the Education Act 1902 and the institution of a National Board of Education.


As early as 1836 the Principal Officers of the Dockyard were involved in municipal affairs. Under the new Municipal Reform Act. Mr T.F. Hawkes, Master Shipwright, and Mr Edward Laws, Clerk of the Check, were appointed Aldermen on the ‘new town council’. Mr T. Pretious, Store Receiver; Mr W. Luke; Capt. Savage RE, Clerk of the Works; and three other officials were Councillors; Lt Weatherley RN, Director of the Dockyard Police, was a magistrate.42


The Admiralty also played a leading role in founding the first parish church, that of St John the Evangelist. The land in Bush Street owned by Mr Meyrick of Bush Estate was conveyed in August 1846 through Edward Laws, a principal officer in the Dockyard, after whom Laws Street is named.


The laying of the corner stone of the church on Monday 21 September 1846 was a major Admiralty occasion. A procession led by the Mayor, Corporation and clergy to the site of the church proceeded from the National School in Victoria Road via Pembroke Street, Commercial Row, Brewery Row and Meyrick Street. Officers and clerks of the Dockyard and naval officers from ships in the harbour took part, as did military officers ‘in full regimentals’.
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The silver trowel used by the Earl of Auckland, First Lord of the Admiralty, to lay the corner stone of St John’s Church, Pembroke Dock, on 21 September 1846. The First Lord and other Lords Commissioners, officers and clerks of the Dockyard and naval officers from ships in the harbour processed from Victoria Road to the church. The Admiralty flag was hoisted during the ceremony. Captain Gordon Falcon RN, Captain Superintendent, gave an address. Fifty Royal Marines from the new Defensible Barracks mounted a guard supported by the band of the 37th Regiment. The church was consecrated on 29 September 1848. (Author)


The procession through the Pembroke Dock streets included, extraordinarily, the Earl of Auckland, First Lord of the Admiralty, and several fellow Lords Commissioners of the Admiralty. (Lord Auckland had recently been Governor-General of India where his 3-year quasi-regal progress from Calcutta to Simla and the Upper Provinces from 1837 to 1840 included 140 elephants, 850 camels, hundreds of horses and bullocks and an entourage of 12,000; on the move the cavalcade stretched for 10 miles. His progress through Pembroke Dock was a more modest experience.) On arrival at the site of the new church the Admiralty flag was hoisted, a Royal Marines guard of honour presented arms and the band of the 37th Regiment played. The First Lord laid the corner stone and placed alongside it a stoppered glass bottle containing documents and coins of the realm, covered with an engraved metal plate. He then ‘ascended out of the foundation’ and addressed the large crowd.43 The resident regiments used the Royal Dockyard Chapel until Sunday 4 January 1880 when St John’s became the Garrison Church.


FROM WOOD TO IRON


Pembroke’s greatest asset and the focus of her prosperity was her thirteen building slips, many more than any other yard, and these made Pembroke Dockyard the nation’s principal building yard for over a century. Nearly 250 warships and other vessels went down the ways at Pembroke in the 106 years which separated the launching of the little sister frigates HMS Ariadne and Valorous in 1816 and that of the fleet oiler Oleander in 1922. This early oil tanker heralded a new era in the history of Milford Haven.


The century of Pembroke shipbuilding witnessed the most profound developments in naval design and construction as sail gave way to steam, driving paddlewheels and later screw propellers, and wood was overtaken by iron and steel. Successive generations of dockyarders had to learn new skills. Their range and complexity increased as the technical development of warships advanced apace after the introduction of steam in the 1840s and of iron a decade or so later. Traditional shipwright expertise slowly gave way to the demands of metal. The rattle of riveting machines and the fumes from the foundries finally overtook the thud of the adze and the sweet smell of freshly planed oak and pine.


Industry and smoke – the fumes from the foundries – marched alongside the new demands of warship building and were beginning to change the landscape of Pembroke Dockyard 15 years before Pembroke’s first ironclad, HMS Prince Consort, was launched in 1862. The Pembrokeshire Herald of 4 September 1846 had reported, almost in wonder, that:





there are not less than three steam engines in active operation – one for pumping the capacious dry dock and giving motion to circular and other saws – one for certain operations in the blacksmith’s shop, and turning grindstones, & – and one for working that astonishing invention, Nasmyth’s patent hammer. This extraordinary apparatus, moving with a power equal to 15 cwt [hundredweights], is so nicely adjusted, that it can be made to drive the smallest nail, or on the other hands, descend with such a force as to smash anything to pieces. The blast furnaces connected with this machine are also well worthy of inspection … the metal in the furnace is brought to a great heat, and then moved by cranes to the hammer, where it is soon wrought into the desired form, no matter how massive.





Industry, however wonderful, came at a growing cost in life and limb.


PEMBROKE-BUILT SHIPS


Pembroke-built vessels ranged in consequence from the little cutters HMS Raven and HMS Starling launched in October 1829 to the colossal line-of-battleship HMS Howe, christened by Miss Harriet Ramsay on Wednesday evening, 7 March 1860, the last sailing three-decker built for the Royal Navy. She was twice the size of Nelson’s Victory and, with a displacement of 6,577 tons, one of the two largest wooden steam battleships. When HMS Howe was broken up in 1921 her timbers were used to build Liberty’s store in Regent Street, London, and the company has preserved her figurehead.


Many vessels built on the slips at Pembroke Dock represented a significant advance in naval architecture and/or marine engineering or played a recorded part in British imperial history. The first 45 years saw the construction of nineteen first- and second-rates, ships which represented the culmination of the art of wooden shipbuilding. Among these was Seppings’ Rodney, christened by Mrs Adams of Holyland on 18 June 1833, the first British two-decker to carry 90 guns or more. She was towed into action at Sebastopol in 1854 by the Pembroke-built paddler HMS Spiteful where her broadside of 1,470lb was employed to effect. ‘What a dose of pills for the enemies of Great Britain’, exulted The Times. HMS Rodney was relieved as flagship on the China Station in 1869 and paid off at Portsmouth on 27 April 1870, the last wooden capital ship in active seagoing commission.


The Rodney was followed by Symonds’ outstandingly successful Vanguard of 1835, with her beam of nearly 57ft the broadest ship in the Royal Navy and then the broadest ever built in Britain. She and the Rodney were fierce competitors in the Mediterranean where the ships were regarded as champions of two rival systems of naval architecture.


Pembroke Dockyard played a pioneering role in the development of early steam propulsion. The Tartarus of 1834 was the first of a series of paddlewheel steam vessels which included the famous Gorgon of 1837 and which culminated with the launching by ‘the lady of Colonel Ellis, Commandant of the Garrison’, on Wednesday 30 April 1851, of HMS Valorous, the last paddle frigate ever built for the Royal Navy.


Throughout the 1850s the Yard produced the last of the Royal Navy’s great wooden line of battleships. The three-decker HMS Duke of Wellington was launched as HMS Windsor Castle on 14 September 1852, the same day as the Iron Duke died at Walmer. Her name was changed in his honour a few days later. She and other big wooden liners of the decade were converted while building to carry steam, being ‘cut asunder’ on the slips and lengthened to make room for boilers and engines. The Duke of Wellington served as flagship in the Baltic during the Russian War.


Pembroke, after Chatham, was the second of the Royal Yards to receive the plant required for iron hull construction. The introduction of the ironclad marked the beginning of 30 years of high achievement for Pembroke Dockyard. Pembroke’s first ironclad was HMS Prince Consort, christened by ‘Miss Jones [of Pantglas], a Carmarthenshire lady’, on Thursday 26 June 1862. She had been laid down as HMS Triumph, a wooden screw two-decker, but was completed as a wooden ironclad carrying 4½in and 3in iron plates. She was followed by other interim ironclads, the Research, Zealous and Lord Clyde. The latter, with her Chatham-built sister ship the Lord Warden, were the largest and fastest steaming wooden ships, naval or mercantile, ever built. But because unseasoned timber had been used in building her at Pembroke, the hull of the Lord Clyde soon became rotten and, known as the Queen’s Bad Bargain, she was sold out of the Service within 10 years. The first of Pembroke’s iron ships was HMS Penelope, a twin-screw corvette launched in 1867. A year later, she was followed by HMS Inconstant, which remained afloat for 88 years, one of the last Pembroke-built hulls in existence. With a speed under canvas of 13.5 knots and steaming at 16 knots, she was the fastest ship in the world.


The despatch vessels HMS Iris, laid down on No 2 Slip in 1875, and HMS Mercury, laid down on the adjoining No 1 Slip the next year, were the first British warships built of steel and their marine engines made them the world’s fastest ships.


During the last two decades of the century Pembroke Yard launched a series of major capital ships, beginning with the turret ship HMS Edinburgh, launched by the Duchess of Edinburgh in March 1882, and followed by Collingwood (1882), Howe (1885), Anson (1886), Nile (1888), Empress of India (1891) and Repulse (1892). The final, and by far the heaviest, battleship built in the Yard was the Majestic-class HMS Hannibal, 14,900 tons, launched on 28 April 1896.
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Pembroke Dockyard and area in 1877. The town has extended east as far as lower Gwyther Street where Bush Street ends. Prospect Place and Milton Terrace have been built. Victoria Road has no houses west of Pembroke Street. The military Hut Encampment at Llanion is clearly shown. The Pembroke and Tenby Railway line extends through to the Dockyard and to the new Railway Pier near Hobbs’ Point. The privately operated dock at the bottom of Meyrick Street built several notable ships including the Carmarthenshire of 1865, which was lost off Terschelling Island in 1885. (Pembroke Dockyard Archives)


Over the next 10 years the Yard produced a line of protected and armoured cruisers of ever increasing size. The 533ft 6in-long HMS Drake of 1901, which was commanded by Capt. John Jellicoe from 1903–04, was the longest ship ever built at Pembroke. The last of three armoured cruisers were the monsters HMS Duke of Edinburgh (1904), her half-sister HMS Warrior (1905) and HMS Defence (1907). All three fought in the First Cruiser Squadron at Jutland and only the Duke of Edinburgh survived.


PEMBROKE SHIPS ACROSS THE WORLD


Some Pembroke-built ships made their names in more distant waters. The little Starling surveyed Hong Kong waters under Lt Henry Kellett where they are commemorated in Kellett Island (long since joined to the waterfront), the erstwhile headquarters of the Royal Hong Kong Yacht Club, and in Starling Inlet in the New Territories. On the Pacific coast of Canada Fisgard Island and Duntze Head honour the frigate HMS Fisgard of 1819 (which itself recalls the French invasion of Fishguard in 1797), which served on the Pacific Station from 1842 to 1846, and her Captain, John Duntze. On the same chart Constance Cove recalls the first visit there on 25 July 1848 of the fourth-rate HMS Constance of 1846, which was the first British warship ever to anchor at Esquimalt, the Royal Canadian Navy’s main base on the west coast.44 The frigate HMS Success largely founded Perth in Australia.


Pembroke ships also made their mark in both the Polar regions. HMS Alert of 1856 sailed with the Nares Expedition to the Arctic in 1875 and wintered at Floeberg Beach, 82.24 North, then the highest latitude ever attained by man. In Antarctica, the great 12,400ft high volcano, Mount Erebus, discovered by Sir James Clark Ross on 28 January 1841, was named after his ship, the bomb vessel HMS Erebus of 1826. She sailed in 1845 with Sir John Franklin on his ill-fated expedition to survey the North-West Passage and passed into history.


Many vessels from Pembroke Dockyard met violent ends. The fifth-rate HMS Thetis of 1817, carrying home a major consignment of gold, silver and plate from Rio de Janeiro, was wrecked on Cape Frio in Brazil in December 1830. The big two-decker HMS Clarence, launched in July 1827 in the presence of Prince William Henry, Duke of Clarence, became a training ship on the Mersey where she was destroyed by fire in June 1884. The following year she was replaced by the Pembroke-built three-decker HMS Royal William of 1833, which was re-named Clarence. She, too, was burnt out on the Mersey in July 1899. Fire also consumed that veteran of the Chinese opium wars, the frigate HMS Imogene of 1831, destroyed in the great blaze in Devonport Dockyard in September 1840.


Some ships met their ends in collisions at sea. HMS Amazon, one of the last timber-hulled sloops built for the Royal Navy, was lost within a year of her launching in May 1865. She was commissioned at Devonport in April 1866 and 2 months later, on 10 July, she collided off Start Point with the steamer Osprey and both vessels sank. All hands were saved. The Pembroke-built light cruiser HMS Curacoa of 1917 lost all but twenty-six of her ship’s company when she was cut in two in collision with the Cunarder RMS Queen Mary off the Irish coast in October 1942.


The sea also took its toll of many early sailing warships, which went down the ways at Pembroke Dockyard. The Cherokee-class sloops fared worst. HMS Wizard of 1830 was lost on the Seal Bank off Berehaven in February 1859; the Skylark of 1826 was wrecked on the Isle of Wight in April 1845 and the Spey of 1827 was lost on Racoon Key in the Bahamas in November 1840.


Other Cherokees disappeared without trace. HMS Thais of 1829 was lost on passage from Falmouth to Halifax in December 1833 and the Camilla of 1847 was lost off Japan in September 1860. The composite gunvessel HMS Gnat, christened by Miss Mirehouse of Angle in the dark on 26 November 1867, was wrecked within a year when she ran aground on Balabac Island in the China Sea on 15 November 1868. Perhaps the most tragic loss was that of the training frigate HMS Atalanta, which had been launched as the Juno at Pembroke Dock in 1844. She sailed from Bermuda for home on 1 February 1880 and foundered in the North Atlantic, taking with her 113 of the ship’s company and 170 young seamen under training.


Pembroke Dockyard ships fought in most of Queen Victoria’s little wars, against recalcitrant emirs, rebellious native chiefs and the omnipresent East Indies and Chinese pirates. They also fought in the great wars of the twentieth century.


The first British warship lost in the First World War was the light cruiser HMS Amphion of 1911, mined in the North Sea on 6 August 1914. The great armoured cruiser HMS Drake, christened by Mrs Lort Phillips in the spring of 1901, and the light cruiser HMS Nottingham of 1913, were both torpedoed. German gunfire at the Battle of Jutland in May 1916 claimed the last two armoured cruisers, the last two major warships built at the Yard, HMS Warrior of 1905 and HMS Defence of 1907. The Defence, flagship of Rear Admiral Sir Robert Arbuthnot in the First Cruiser Squadron, blew up with the loss of old Sir Robert, one of the Royal Navy’s fitness enthusiasts, and all 893 men on board. The Warrior was so badly damaged that she was abandoned and sank. The final loss of the First World War occurred a few weeks before the Armistice. The little submarine L10, launched in January 1918, was sunk off the Texel in the following October. The very last vessel built at Pembroke Dockyard, the fleet oiler Oleander of 1922, was sunk in Harstead Bay on 8 June 1940 after having been damaged by German dive-bombers during the Norwegian Campaign.


THE PRICE OF ADMIRALTY


Naval histories record the battles and the glory but the high price of Admiralty was also paid in full by the men who built these great ships, and by their families. The physical hazards of working in the Dockyard were many and accidents were often fatal. Even the most basic machinery posed a hazard. In December 1846 a Nasmyth’s hammer and fan bellows was in operation. ‘A dreadful accident happened a few days since, with the machinery set in motion by the steam-engine working the last mentioned invention’, reported the United Service Magazine in January 1847; ‘A man employed oiling the cog-wheels, turning the grindstone department, got entangled therein, and, shocking to relate, had his head literally severed from his body; the former remained attached to the wheels, while the latter fell a lifeless corpse to the ground.’


Less dramatically, The Important Case Book maintained in the Dockyard Surgery by the Senior Medical Officer in accordance with Home Dockyard Regulations records a long list of deaths and terrible injuries suffered by dockyard workers in later years. The terse clinical accounts compiled by Fleet Surgeons a century and more ago and the occasional moss-covered gravestone are often the only remaining evidence of tragedy. For them there were no drums and no trumpets sounded.


Industrial injuries increased in their variety, severity and frequency with the gradual introduction into shipbuilding of iron and steel in the second half of the century with its associated foundries, forges and machine shops. Falls from staging on the building slips continued to claim lives and hernias were common. To these now were added burns, injuries with machinery and eye damage caused by flying metal, especially during riveting. Almost every addition to the Navy List from Pembroke Dockyard was marked by a new gravestone in a South Pembrokeshire churchyard, often with a family cast into penury.


Exemplary of the cost was young Stephen Morgans who went to work on Monday 19 June 1871. He was one of a gang moving an armour plate intended for the battleship HMS Thunderer from a drilling machine in the armour plate shop. It went out of control and his legs were both broken below the knee. ‘Small as his wages may be’, reported the Haverfordwest and Milford Haven Telegraph on 21 June, ‘he will be sadly missed at home, as he is the bread winner for an aged mother, quite blind, a sister and an invalid brother who has not been able to work for years; in fact, the condition of the family is one well worthy of the consideration of the benevolent.’ A few weeks later, on 5 July, the Telegraph devoted a few lines to John Dippey whose fingers were cut off by a circular saw; ‘we believe this is the third man within twelve months who has lost fingers in this machine’.
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Pembroke Dockyard in about 1890. The Pater Battery, soon to be demolished, still stands at the north-west corner of the Dockyard and the newly launched ship is very probably the second-class cruiser HMS Pearl which would date the photograph to Monday afternoon, 28 July 1890, soon after Mrs Long, wife of the Captain Superintendent, christened the ship. (National Maritime Museum)


The Dockyard Surgery treated all injuries and serious cases were sent on board the old fourth-rate HMS Nankin, a veteran of the Second China War, which served as the Dockyard hospital ship from 1866 to 1895 when facilities were provided on shore. The old Nankin was the end of the road for many.


The case of Samuel Ellis Ball, a 54-year-old shipwright, who lies in Plot G.126 just inside the gates of Llanion Cemetery, was typical. On Thursday 10 February 1881, Mr Ball was preparing the 465-ton composite gunboat HMS Cockchafer for launching. He fell from a stage at the stern of the ship into the bottom of the slip 22ft below and he was taken out to the Nankin in a semi-conscious state where Staff Surgeon Henry Dawson found head, back and chest injuries and a fractured right thigh. ‘He complained of great pain’, the Surgeon told the inquest. ‘I attended him for ten days, when he died … The primary cause of death was concussion of the brain.’


[image: images]


The headstone in Llanion Cemetery of Samuel Ellis Ball, a 54-year-old shipwright, who was mortally injured in a fall alongside the composite gunboat HMS Cockchafer on 10 February 1881 and who died 9 days later on the day the ship was launched. (Author)


The Cockchafer was launched at 9 a.m. on Saturday 19 February, by Miss Philipps of Lawrenny Castle. The ship ‘took the water beautifully, the strains of the band mingling with the cheers of those assembled’. Just offshore in the Nankin Samuel Ball, Shipwright, was still clinging to life. He died 4 hours later at 1 p.m.45


The range and severity of injuries is illuminated by looking at the Dockyard Important Case Book entries referring to just some injuries in one ship of the several under construction at Pembroke Dockyard in the early 1880s. Our example is the battleship HMS Collingwood:





23 September 1881: William Jones aged 30. Hired Shipwright. Fracture of right little finger and lacerated wound of ring finger of right hand in assisting to drive home some wood backing on board HMS Collingwood … amputation of little finger at first joint …





10 June 1882: John Prickett aged 19. Shipwright’s Apprentice. Concussion of the brain; fracture of radius and ulna … fell off side of slip alongside HMS Collingwood.





16 June 1882: William Phillips aged 24. Hired Labourer. Burn severe right hand by boiling pitch on board HMS Collingwood as he was receiving the bucket …





26 June 1882: Thomas James aged 22. Police Constable. Concussion of the brain … fell on his head … on duty searching … HMS Collingwood.





30 September 1882: James Gibby, Hired Labourer. Compound fracture of the skull and concussion of the brain followed by convulsions. Sustained while assisting to [put?] an armour plate in place on board the Collingwood.





21 November 1882: George Arthur aged 52. Hired Labourer. Whilst employed scraping iron for painting on board HMS Collingwood he states a scale of the rust flew into his left eye. He was under treatment on shore but in consequence of his residence being about 3 miles from the Dock Yard he was sent to hospital [HMS Nankin] for treatment where he could be better attended to …





22 November 1882: George Thomas aged 27. Hired Shipwright. His head was struck by a shore at ship’s side on the launch of HMS Collingwood. Concussion of the brain; severe contusion of head but conscious. He was carried to the surgery bleeding from nose and ear … after a week or so paralysis of left side of face … loss of hearing … mouth on one side … can only partly close left eye … discharged from hospital 13 December not cured allowed to go home.





10 February 1883: Henry Cole aged 28. Hired Labourer. Fractured both bones of left leg with wound of face caused by a tackle breaking in getting shafting on board HMS Collingwood at Hobbs Point.





11 April 1883: William Hadley aged 21. Joiner [?]. Fracture left forearm and dislocation right wrist in fall from a stage alongside HMS Collingwood in dock.





Even after the turn of the century life in the Dockyard could be a brutal business. John Lewis, aged 56, Established Labourer No 595, was painting a bulkhead in the port engine room of the new cruiser HMS Drake on 30 January 1901 when he slipped and fell 13ft onto the engine bearers and then into the crank pit. He fractured his skull ‘and is now totally deaf. In addition he has lost his left eye which he states occurred when building HMS Shannon on 1 May 1875’, wrote Fleet Surgeon Edward Luther. The latter concluded, ‘His capacity to contribute to his own support is totally destroyed and is likely to be permanent.’ Lewis was invalided on 16 April 1901.


The dreaded letters DD in red ink denoted the Royal Navy abbreviation for ‘Discharged Dead’, the final epitaph for many a fine fellow. William Williams aged 45, Labourer No 1899, from Bush Street, had been greasing cogs in a machine in No 2 Fitters Shop on the morning of 21 May 1900 when he was caught in the machinery. He was taken to the Surgery with a fractured skull and his right hand amputated ‘all except his thumb’. William Williams received his DD in red ink the following day.


His widow received £193 14s 11d in compensation from the Admiralty. The following January the Admiralty informed the Captain Superintendent that in future coffins for workmen accidentally killed in the Dockyard were not to be provided at public expense and, reported the Pembroke Dock and Pembroke Gazette, ‘have directed the Yard authorities to recover from the representatives of the late William Williams … the cost of the coffin supplied’.46


The cost of coffins, and of funerals, was a major outlay against which Dockyard workers had to make prudent provision. The Royal Dockyard Interment Society formed in about 1870 ‘to do away with collections in the Dockyard’ collected weekly 2d subscriptions as an insurance against funeral costs. The scheme ‘has proved an inestimable boon to very many families’, reported the society’s annual meeting in April 1893.47
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The two fatalities from accidents in Pembroke Dockyard. In St Daniel’s Churchyard in Pembroke lies David Thomas (58), Leading Man of Labourers, who fell 28ft into No. 6 Slip on 26 October 1877 and suffered multiple injuries. He died from these injuries within 20 minutes. In Llanion Cemetery lies William John (29) who was scalded by steam while cleaning out an engine boiler on 17 July 1877. His clothes were cut off and the scalds treated with carron oil. He died the next day on board hospital ship HMS Nankin. (Author)


Not all deaths were caused by industrial accidents. The Important Case Book of the Dockyard Surgery records several deaths from plumbism among painters. Fleet Surgeon Thomas C. Hickey records, for example, the case of Charles Rowlands, aged 44, Hired Plumber No 1712, DD on 13 July 1898. ‘This man was transferred from the Sick to the Hurt List on 12 June 98 suffering from Lead Poisoning contracted while preparing lead fittings at Plumbers Shop for [the cruiser HMS] Andromeda, owing to him being too ill to be removed into hospital. He was attended at his own home by Dr H.L. Lewis Pembroke under the supervision of the Fleet Surgeon of the Yard. He died from Plumbism and Paralysis; primary and secondary causes respectively … No inquest was held.’48


In the following year, the Fleet Surgeon, Edward Luther, recorded the death on 4 May 1899 of John Charles, aged 47, Painter No 93; ‘this man died from Phthisis. He was put on the Hurt List on Feb 23rd last suffering from an Attack of Lead Poisoning. The debilitated state of health this man had been in for some time owing to lung disease predisposed him to the absorption of lead while at his work as a Painter on the Royal Yacht and this no doubt in my opinion accelerated his death.’


Another similar tragedy was reported in the Pembrokeshire Times of 24 June 1909. On Sunday evening, 20 June, dockyard painter Samuel Couzens aged 46 from 16 Church Street, Pembroke Dock, took his customary walk into Pembroke. He was ‘overcome with sickness and failed to get further than Westgate Chapel’ and he collapsed on the green sward opposite. The congregation leaving the evening service at Westgate included a friend, Robert Griffiths, of Washington Terrace, Pembroke, who asked, ‘What’s the matter, Sam?’
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Pembroke Dockyard from Barrack Hill in a photograph by S.J. Allen showing eleven building sheds and Holl’s four splendid stone-built residences of the Captain Superintendent and principal officers. (Author)


‘Oh, I am bad’, replied Mr Couzens and he died before the doctor arrived. His brother, Alfred Couzens, ‘stationmaster of Lamphey, was summoned by Mr George Griffiths of Castle Terrace, who rode out on his bicycle’. The inquest held at the deceased’s home on Tuesday heard that Mr Couzens had a history of ‘painter’s cholic’. Doctor W.R.E. Williams of Pembroke reported that he had found ‘blue lines on the gums, which was evidence of lead poisoning’. The findings were ‘forwarded to the authorities of the Dockyard’.


Samuel Bradfield Couzens was buried on 24 June 1909 at Llanion Cemetery in Grave No 293 Grave Section C.


The Price of Admiralty was paid in full by the men of Pembroke Dockyard.


THE DISPERSED WORKFORCE


Distances from home to work as well as dangers when they got there was a constant hazard for Dockyarders, most of whom lived in a widely dispersed area of South Pembrokeshire. This entailed long journeys by horse or boat for the fortunate but by foot for the many. As the paternal concern of the Admiralty included basic medical care it added to the professional duties of the Dockyard surgeon.


Dr James Burke, who arrived as Dockyard Surgeon on 23 March 1816, requested the services of a surgery messenger and the use of a boat because nearly ‘two Hundred of the People belonging to this Yard [had] their dwellings on the other side of the Haven’. He was allowed the messenger but told that ‘whenever he requires a Boat he is to apply to the Master Shipwright for One’.49


The dispersed workforce continued to cause difficulties. An Order in Council dated 11 February 1841, after emphasising that ‘the number of artificers and workmen has greatly increased [since 1815] and the duty of the Surgeon has become more onerous in consequence of many of the men being obliged to reside at a considerable distance from the yard’, proceeded to ask that the ‘exigency may be provided for by such small addition to the salary of the Surgeon as will enable him to keep a horse for the purpose of visiting his distant patients’. His salary was duly increased from £400 to £450 a year.


The Dockyard Surgeon was still doing his rounds on horseback at the beginning of the twentieth century. In his memoirs, Surgeon Rear Admiral Thomas Tendron Jeans, then a junior naval doctor at Pembroke Dockyard, recalled his experiences which we will return to later.50


Assistant Constructor Arthur Nicholls, who arrived at the Dockyard in about 1906, recalled in his unpublished memoirs that ‘not all of the workmen lived in Pembroke Dock, large numbers coming in from all the villages around on both sides of the Haven. Every morning just before bell-ringing a fleet of pulling boats could be seen coming from all directions, each one having a select complement. At night the get-away was well-worth watching, if only for the competition in the various evolutions’.51
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A late nineteenth-century view of Pembroke Dock. The Dockyard building sheds and chapel are seen to the left; the north-east gun tower on the waterfront, center; and a major warship is fitting out under the sheer legs at Hobbs Point. (Author)


LAUNCHING DAYS


Launching days were the highlights of the Pembroke calendar throughout the history of the Dockyard. Their importance varied with the size of the ship, which in turn determined the rank of the lady chosen to perform the christening. ‘These events are to hundreds the “sunny spots” in their chequered existence’, commented the Pembrokeshire Herald in its report of the launching in 1844 of the two-decker HMS Centurion by Mrs Cockburn of Rhoscrowther.52


The Yard was customarily open to the public on working days (but not during the ‘dinner hour’) and visitors were escorted by a dockyard policeman. On launching days, and sometimes for a few days before, numbers greatly increased. Major ships attracted crowds of visitors, especially in summer. The opening of the railway through to Pembroke Dock in 1864 often brought day trippers from more distant parts of South Wales. They all brought welcome extra trade to the town.


Assistant Constructor Arthur Nicholls of the Royal Corps of Naval Constructors, fresh from 3 years at the Royal Naval College, Greenwich, had arrived in about 1906 on his first Admiralty posting. He recalled in his (unpublished) memoirs in 1946 his memories of Pembroke Dockyard 40 years earlier:





Shipbuilding has a fascination that few professions can equal. To watch the gradual growth from keel to truck, each item having its specific shape and strength, the plating of decks and hull, piece by piece, till the coordination achieves a complete entity which can leave its birthplace and take up its natural element at launching time, gives a satisfaction which few professions can equal. Launches provide a thrill for the oldest and most seasoned shipbuilder. Until the vessel is safely transferred from the slip to the water, there is a tension relieved only by the shout ‘she’s moving’. Launch morning in a Naval dockyard has an air about it that can be felt. Men are required from other vessels for driving in the wedges that ‘set the ship up’ and others for clearing the staging and general accumulation of timber and props. Every detail is programmed and nothing left to chance, as the result there are practically no ‘misfires’. All day there is a cheerful atmosphere, charged with friendly rivalry. Opposite gangs vie with each other in getting blocks and staging away quickly, even to the discomfiture of their opposite numbers. At Pembroke, launches usually were programmed for spring tides, which meant that the ceremony took place about 3pm.
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